






















ASSESSORS MAP 10

PARCEL 9

ASSESSORS MAP 10

PARCEL 8

ASSESSORS MAP 10

PARCEL 11

LOT AREA

AREA = 6,392 S.F.±

0.15 ACRES±

(LOTS 57 & 58 ON PLAN

BOOK 33, PAGE 127)

SHORE ROAD

A.K.A. ROUTE 6A

50' WIDE - PUBLIC WAY

HIG
H HEAD ROAD

UNDEFINED -

UNCONSTRUCTED PUBLIC W
AY

FLOOD ZONE AE (EL.13)

FLOOD ZONE AO (DEPTH 1')

TV

APPROXIMATE

SEWAGE DISPOSAL

SYSTEM LOCATION

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 W
O

O
D

FR
A

M
E

 D
W

E
LL

IN
G

TO
P

 O
F 

FO
U

N
D

A
TI

O
N

E
LE

V
. =

 1
4.

5

E
X

IS
TI

N
G

 W
O

O
D

FR
A

M
E

 D
W

E
LL

IN
G

TO
P

 O
F 

FO
U

N
D

A
TI

O
N

E
LE

V
. =

 1
4.

4

D
E

C
K

R
O

O
F 

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

TIMBER RET. WALL

 BRICK PATIO

S
P

LI
T 

R
A

IL
 F

E
N

C
E

U.P.

U.P.

TIMBER FENCE

GRAVEL DRIVEWAY & PARKING

D
E

C
K

R
O

O
F 

O
V

E
R

H
A

N
G

N
29

° 
42

' 3
2"

E

S
29

° 
42

' 3
2"

WN60° 17' 28"W

R =11 ,417 .9 4 '

L=90 .14 '

68
.4

7'

90.00'

73
.5

1'

1.8'±

10
.2

'±

11.7'±

10
.7

'±

24
.7

'±

1.
9'

±

BENCHMARK:

TOP OF CONC. BOUND

EL.=11.74 (NAVD 88)

S
LA

B
E

L=
7.

1±

TH
R

E
S

H
O

LD
E

L=
15

.4
±

OHW
OHW

OHW

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

O
H

W
O

H
W

S
LA

B
E

L=
7.

1±

PROPOSED DRIVE

ADDITION

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

P
A

T
IO

E
L
=
7
.1
±

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

S
H

E
L
L
 P

A
T
H

PROPOSED

LIMIT OF WORK

PROPOSED DRY WELL

3' DIA. x 3' D (TYP.)

P.A.

P.A.

TIMBER RETAINING WALL

TO BE RECONSTRUCTED

B.O.W=7.0

T.O.W.=10.9

T
O

 R
E

M
A

IN

TO BE RE-SURFACED

W
ITH POROUS BLOCK

T
O

 B
E

 R
E

C
O

N
S

T
R

U
C

T
E

D
 W

IT
H

 1
1

2
  
S

T
O

R
Y

D
W

E
L
L
IN

G
 O

N
 E

X
IS

T
IN

G
 F

O
U

N
D

A
T
IO

N

EXISTING CESSPOOL

(LOCATION UNKNOWN)

AREA TO BE RE-PLANTED WITH

VIRGINIA/CAROLINA  ROSE

P.A.

PROPOSED

PLANTER BOX

DRAWN BY

CHECKED BY

PROJECT NO.

   OF         SHEETS

P
R

O
J
E

C
T

SCALE

DATE

DRAWING FILE

S
H

E
E

T
 T

IT
L
E

D
A

T
E

SEAL

N
O

.
R

E
V

IS
IO

N
B

Y

KEY MAP
NO SCALE

ELEVATIONS SHOWN HEREON ARE

BASED ON THE NORTH AMERICAN

VERTICAL DATUM OF 1988 (NAVD 1988)

DATUM:

F
:\

S
D

S
K

P
R

O
J
\C

1
7
0
0
0
\C

1
7
0
1
2
\C

1
7
0
1
2
-C

.d
w

g
  
3
/1

3
/2

0
2
0
 4

:4
9
 P

M

PLAN

1 inch = 10 ft.

10 5 0 10 30

REFERENCE:

M
A

S
S

. 
C

O
O

R
D

. 
S

Y
S

T
E

M
 N

A
D

 1
9
8
3
 M

A
IN

L
A

N
D

 Z
O

N
E

C
H

U
C

K
 S

IL
V

A
3
7
9
 S

H
O

R
E

 R
O

A
D

T
R

U
R

O
, 

M
A

C17012.00

P
L
A

N
 S

H
O

W
IN

G
 P

R
O

P
O

S
E

D
S

IT
E

 I
M

P
R

O
V

E
M

E
N

T
S

C2.1.2
1 1

1" = 10'

03-13-2020

C17012-C.dwg

CEM

TRURO, MA

PILGRIM LAKE

ROUTE 6
SHORE ROADCAPE COD BAY

STOTTS CROSSING

H
IG

H
 H

E
A

D
 R

D
C

L
IF

F
 R

D

LOCUS

LEGEND

FLOOD ZONE:
FLOOD ZONE AE (EL 13) SHOWN ON THIS DRAWING IS

A DIRECT REPRESENTATION OF THE GRAPHIC FLOOD

ZONE BOUNDARIES SHOWN ON FEMA FIRM PANEL

#25001C0136J EFFECTIVE JULY 16, 2014. PLEASE NOTE

THAT SITE SPECIFIC FLOODPLAIN BOUNDARIES MAY

VARY DUE TO DIFFERENT INTERPRETATIONS OF

THESE BOUNDARIES.   USERS ARE ADVISED TO

VERIFY LOCATION OF THESE BOUNDARIES WITH THE

DESIGNATED COMMUNITY FLOODPLAIN MANAGERS

AND/OR FEMA PRIOR TO SITING ANY PROPOSED

STRUCTURES.

ISSUED FOR REGULATORY REVIEW 03-13-2020

EXISTING

PROPOSED

NOTE: MEAN GRADE AROUND PROPOSED HOUSE = (11.9 + 12.1 + 7.3 + 7.3)/4 = 9.7

      TOP OF FOUNDATION EL. = 14.5

      PROPOSED RIDGE EL. = 14.5 + 23* = 37.5

      PROPOSED BUILDING HT. = 37.5 - 9.7 = 27.8 FT

                   * 23' IS BASED UPON THE SCALED DISTANCE FROM TOP OF FOUNDATION TO RIDGE

                     ON THE 12/18/19 PLANS BY PETER J. CONEEN, LLC.

















Page 1 of 5 

TOWN OF TRURO 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
MEETING MINUTES 
November 5, 2018 
TRURO TOWN HALL 
 
Members Present:  Chair-Bertram Perkel, Art Hultin, Chris Lucy, John Dundas, Fred Todd, Alternate-
Susan Areson 
 
Members Absent:  John Thornley 
 
Others Present:  Interim Town Planner-Jessica Bardi,  Atty. Benjamin Zehnder, Yvette Dubinski, Richard 
Sullivan, Joanne Barkin, Roland Letendre, Joan Holt 
 
Chair Perkel called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm.   
 
Continuation – 2018-002/ZBA – Timsneck LLC, by Atty. Benjamin Zehnder, for property located at 10 
Thornley Meadow Road (Atlas Sheet 53, Parcel 87, title reference:  Book 30529, Page 134).  Applicants 
are seeking a Special Permit and/or Variance, whichever the Board deems appropriate, w/ref to 
Sections 10.4 and 30.7B of the Truro Zoning Bylaw for additions to a pre-existing, non-conforming 
single-family dwelling. 
 
Atty. Zehnder approached the Board. 
 
Chair Perkel stated that he’d just been handed an email from Atty. David Reid stating that he was 
dealing with a family medical emergency and would not be able to attend the Zoning Board meeting.  
Atty. Reid asked for the Public Hearing to be postponed.  Chair Perkel’s first instinct is to say no. 
Atty. Zehnder asked to be heard.  He stated that Atty. Reid has submitted extensive written materials 
and his arguments are laid out in writing.  This meeting was specifically scheduled for two reasons: 

1. To be able to hear this in the absence of other cases. 
2. To work around the availability of the complaining abutters.   

Atty. Zehnder (and his clients) would like to get this heard.  They respect whatever decision the Board 
makes, and he respects Atty. Reid. 
Chair Perkel polled the Board. 
Member Areson would be inclined to rely on the materials submitted and go forward with the hearing. 
Member Todd agreed.  The Board has received a lot of material.  He would like to have some exchange 
with Atty. Reid if possible. 
Members Lucy and Dundas would like to move forward. 
Member Hultin certainly understands the reasons for wanting to go forward, however in fairness to 
counsel, Atty. Reid should be allowed to be heard.  There is a lot of material to review and Member 
Hultin is not sure he wants to vote on something without having the “back-and-forth” opportunity to 
speak with Atty. Reid. 
Chair Perkel suggests continuing the meeting over at the Public Safety Facility. 
 
Member Lucy made a motion to continue the meeting at the Public Safety Facility with a fifteen- 
minute recess.  They will reconvene at 5:50pm. 
Member Hultin seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 



Page 2 of 5 

 
Meeting reconvened at the Public Safety Facility at 5:50pm. 
Chair Perkel stated that the Board would continue their discussion which they started at the Town Hall 
before they moved over to the Public Safety Facility.  He reiterated that the Board had just been given a 
letter from Atty. Reid stating that he would be unable to attend the meeting and was asking for a 
postponement. He’s inclined to grant the postponement. 
Yvette Dubinski came up (Atty. Reid is her lawyer), she’s representing the abutters who are questioning 
the granting of this special permit.  Moving forward would leave the abutters without Counsel, which 
doesn’t appear to be fair.  Member Dundas asked if Ms. Dubinski represented all the abutters when she 
says the public hearing should not take place tonight and be continued.  She responded that she felt 
confident that all the abutters felt the same way. 
Richard Sullivan came up to speak, he lives at 2 Sandpiper Road and is not an abutter.  He stated the 
paperwork has been filed, it’s been reviewed by the ZBA, and he feels they should be able to move 
forward. 
Joanne Barkin came up to speak.  She noted that everyone has come back multiple times, and she feels 
the ZBA has been very generous in granting continuances.  Now that Atty. Reid has a genuine reason for 
not being able to attend, the ZBA is debating whether or not to move forward.  She feels that’s 
outrageous.  She wants the ZBA to be fair.  The side opposing the special permit deserves representation 
and the Board should continue, out of fairness. 
Roland Letendre came up to speak.  He explained the reason for a couple of the continuances.  He noted 
that he is paying his lawyer constantly.  He feels Atty. Reid’s argument is laid out, and he thinks the 
Board should be able to move forward.  He doesn’t think Atty. Reid is going to come up with anything 
that isn’t already written out. 
Atty. Zehnder suggested that the Board open the hearing and allow him to make his presentation.  The 
Board will be able to hear the presentation, hear comments from abutters, and not close the hearing 
tonight.  Atty. Reid will be able to watch the recording of the meeting and then come in and rebut 
anything Atty. Zehnder puts forward.  The Board will then be able to ask questions of Atty. Reid.  Instead 
of waiting, if they move forward tonight it will give interested parties and counsel some time to review 
testimony.  This will also give Atty. Zehnder some indication from the Board where they stand on this 
request.  Chair Perkel feels that Atty. Zehnder’s proposal is reasonable. 
Chair Perkel stated that they would now proceed with the variance application: 
 
2018-012/ZBA - Timsneck LLC, by Atty. Benjamin Zehnder, for property located at 10 Thornley 
Meadow Road (Atlas Sheet 53, Parcel 87, title reference:  Book 30529, Page 134).  Applicant seeks a 
Variance w/ref to Sections 10.4 and 50.1A of the Truro Zoning Bylaw for 14.27 feet of lot frontage on 
Button Hill Road or in the alternative, 45.82 feet of lot frontage on Thornley Meadow Road. 
 
Member Lucy wished to make a disclosure before discussion started.  In 2002 he worked for the 
Dubinski’s as a landscaper, and in 2008 he worked for the Thornley’s (when they owned this property) 
as a landscaper.  This disclosure will not hinder his ability to make a decision which will be determined 
on the merits of the case.   
Atty. Zehnder stated that there are two applications before the Board.  They will be asking the Board to 
vote on an Application for Special Permit for alteration of the structure on 10 Thornley Meadow Road, 
the more recently filed is an application for a variance for lot frontage requirements for alterations of a 
residence at 10 Thornley Meadow Road.  The plans which have been submitted consist of: 

• A site plan dated January 26, 2018, revised March 22, 2018. 

• A planting plan dated June 13, 2018. 

• Several existing plans (basement, first floor, second floor, roof). 



Page 3 of 5 

• Elevation plan. 

• Proposed basement plan, proposed first floor plan, proposed second floor plan, two sheets of 
proposed elevation plans. 

Atty. Zehnder described the lot regarding measurements/frontage.  The Board has been provided with a 
sketch plan done by Ryder & Wilcox which shows the frontage of 10 Thornley Meadow Road.  He asked 
that the Board make that part of the record.  What’s being proposed, in addition to the existing 
structure, is to add another section to this house on the south side of the structure.  This proposal would 
create a 7-bedroom dwelling with a 9-bedroom septic system.  It would remain a single-family dwelling 
and there would be no change to the location of the driveway.  Without granting the variance, the 
structure will be frozen the way it is, which he believes creates a substantial hardship to the applicant.  
He also feels that the Board cannot make a finding that the replacement of this house with a larger 
house will be a substantial detriment to the public good.  Chair Perkel asked how large the house 
currently is.  Atty. Zehnder replied that it’s approximately 7400 sq. ft. In floor area.  Atty. Zehnder went 
on to state that the lot size is 4.75 times larger than the minimum lot size in Truro.  The lot coverage is 
2.03 percent while the average lot size in the neighborhood is 4.94 percent.   
Member Areson had a question regarding a second kitchen in the guest house, above the garage.  Is it 
allowable?  Atty. Zehnder was not sure.  He stated it’s the Building Commissioner’s position that you 
cannot have a cooking facility, as that would create a separate dwelling.  They would accept a condition 
that there be no kitchen. 
Member Todd had a question about the height calculations, specifically in the exercise room, and does 
that constitute a story.  If it is considered a story then the height would be considered excessive.  Atty. 
Zehnder had two responses; 

1. The specifically asked their engineer to provide a height calculation.  Looking at the site plan 
itself there is a proposed ridge elevation and an average existing grade elevation, and a height.  
The Engineer has done those calculations as required by the bylaw.  They have the house at 29.4 
feet including the entirety of the structure, including the exercise room. 

2. In response to whether this is a three story house. He read from the bylaw as to how a 
basement is handled.  Only two corners of the basement are exposed, and those belong to the 
exercise room.  The remainder of the basement of the structure, as you go around the house, is 
shielded by grade level. 

Member Hultin asked if Atty. Zehnder had any information on the creation of Thornley Meadow Road 
and Button Hill Road, and their evolution.  He stated the appeal arose out of the Building Inspector’s 
determination that Thornley Meadow was a non-conforming road, and Member Hultin wonders if it is in 
fact a non-conforming road then how can Button Hill be conforming?  Atty. Zehnder wonders the same 
thing.  He stated that in 1994 a subdivision plan was approved by the Planning Board which created this 
division of land into 4 or 5 lots.  The road was vetted at that time by the Planning Board and they 
granted certain waivers from requirements.  This was for Thornley Meadow and Button Hill at the same 
time.  Member Hultin then stated that Thornley Meadow Road is a private way, owned by the abutters 
to the road, and was created at the same time as Button Hill Road.  He then asked if Button Hill Road 
was owned by the abutters to that road.  Atty. Zehnder believes that when the Thornley’s divided up the 
property, the ownership of the lots included ownership of the road.  The point Member Hultin is getting 
as is; are these two roads or one road with two names?  Atty. Zehnder thinks it’s one road and that the 
2nd name was given only for the reason to create frontage for the Dubinski lot.  Member Hultin thinks 
that’s an important item to determine.  Atty. Zehnder stated that if the Board finds that this is one road, 
then he does not think they need a variance. 
Member Todd stated that in looking at the 2015 street inventory, Button Hill has a date of 1994 and 
Thornley Meadow 1993.  Atty. Zehnder said that the subdivision plan, dated November 1993, showed 
Button Hill Road.  Ms. Dubinski came up and stated that there was a whole other side of this which they 



Page 4 of 5 

needed their attorney for.  Chair Perkel informed her that Atty. Reid would have an opportunity to 
present the information.  Atty. Zehnder added that Mr. Letendre wished to remind the Board that there 
is not a road up there, just entrances to driveways.  Chair Perkel stated the Board has been up there and 
they have seen the location. 
Member Lucy wished to go back to what Member Hultin was questioning.  He wonders if they all still 
have the minutes from the Planning Board back in 1993.  Those minutes address what will be paved, 
what will be crushed stone, etc.  It was given waivers to not be constructed as “full spec”.  He asked 
Atty. Zehnder if there is access to the profiles of the original road.  There is an old plan for Thornley 
Meadow that shows stations, and it takes you up to 1100 feet and that’s the end of Thornley Meadow.  
It does not show Button Hill.  The other plan (1993-110) will show that profile and define whether there 
are 1 or 2 roads. 
Chair Perkel presently feels that the hardship is probably proven and he could see the conditioning of 
the lot being required.  There is a third element which concerns him.  If the applicant is granted a 
variance without conditions it becomes a totally lawful lot.  With that, the owner could put the pool 
back, and do any number of things. Chair Perkel had asked legal counsel if the ZBA had the power to put 
conditions if they approved.  Legal counsel had responded, stating that the ZBA did have the power to 
condition the variance.  Chair Perkel then asked members of the ZBA for suggestions on conditions if 
they approved the variance: 

• Member Todd not only had concerns with the size of the structure, but also the amount of light 
spilling out from the structure.  He does not know the answer but certainly feels it’s a matter for 
discussion. 

• Member Hultin feels that if there are going to be limits, they have to be reflective of what is 
before them.  He would consider items which are concerning to him, such as the use.  Is the 
structure for family use, or a conference center?  There could be restrictions on the possibility of 
rentals.  As to the size, he does not feel it’s the job of the ZBA to determine.  If the restrictions 
don’t pass at Town Meeting, then they don’t apply for the ZBA.  It is not their job to do what 
Town Meeting doesn’t accomplish. 

• Member Dundas concurs with Member Hultin.  His concern is that the coverage of the structure 
vs. the size of the lot does not belong in front of the ZBA, he believes that is a Town decision.   

• Member Lucy agrees.  He does not feel they should consider the size when there is no bylaw 
about anything of that nature.  He also pointed out that in the matter of use, whether an Airbnb 
or a conference center, the Town does not have anything on the books regarding that.  He 
wonders if the house slowly increases in size.  Right now it’s 4000+ square feet, and they are 
proposing 7000+.  Will the next owner come along and propose increasing to 9,000+?  That is 
something he would consider a condition on. 

Chair Perkel suggested that this will require four out of five votes, and it’s something Counsel should 
consider.  Member Areson noted that some of the neighbors have expressed concern over the berm 
that’s going to be removed, where the exercise room will be.  The berm acts as a “screen” to the 
neighboring property.  Atty. Zehnder stated there are two issues. 

1. What project does the ZBA feel is appropriate for the granting of a variance. 
2. What project does certain interested parties feel is appropriate. 

The owner immediately removed the swimming pool at the request of the abutter.  Atty. Zehnder also 
had a conversation with Atty. Reid two or three days ago, asking if there was something they could do to 
manage the project in such a way that would be acceptable to the client.  Atty. Reid responded that he 
did not think so. 
Ms. Dubinski came back before the Board.  She stated that the issue has to do with the amount of land 
that the Letendre’s have on this road which is much less than what Atty. Zehnder has suggested.  
According to the bylaws, you have to have a certain amount of frontage on a road to increase a 



Page 5 of 5 

structure and this house does not have that.  She thinks the Letendre’s have asked for this lis pendens 
action to the Thornley’s.  The Letendre’s know they do not have enough frontage, and they are asking 
the ZBA to make an exception.  Chair Perkel stated that they are allowed to ask for the exception.  He 
reassured Ms. Dubinski that Atty. Reid will be able to come and make his presentation. 
Joan Holt came up to speak.  She’d like to discuss the question of the detriment to the neighborhood.  
She feels the Board has mostly served the applicants, and it’s rare that they have acted on behalf of the 
abutters.  She asked the Board to look at the audience.  It’s a community of mostly small homes.  The 
Dubinski’s property has several buildings but they are small, and separated.  She stated that suddenly 
there are people coming into the community with no idea what the surrounding homes look like.  Her 
house is 1800 square feet.  The large structure proposed will change the look of the entire 
neighborhood.  She implored the Board to think about the community. 
Member Hultin could not disagree more with the speaker.  The Board, over the years, has done a very 
good job at representing the Town, the neighborhoods, and the individual property owners by the 
Zoning Bylaws.  If the residents want different Zoning Bylaws, then it’s their job.  The Zoning Board of 
Appeals job is to enforce, interpret, and to make exceptions to the Zoning Bylaw as needed.   
 
Atty. Zehnder asked for a continuance to the November 26, 2018 meeting of both the Special Permit 
and the Variance Public Hearing. 
 
Member Todd made a motion to continue Public Hearing 2018-002/ZBA and Public Hearing 2018-
012/ZBA - Timsneck LLC to the November 26, 2018 meeting. 
Member Dundas seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
Chair Perkel adjourned at 8:25pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Noelle L. Scoullar 



 

Page 1 of 5 
 

TOWN OF TRURO 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
MEETING MINUTES 
November 26, 2018 
TRURO TOWN HALL 
 
Members Present:  Chair-Bertram Perkel, Art Hultin, John Dundas, Fred Todd, John Thornley, Alternate-
Susan Areson 
 
Members Absent:  Chris Lucy 
 
Others Present:  Interim Town Planner-Jessica Bardi, Atty. Sarah Turano-Flores, Atty. Benjamin Zehnder, 
Yvette Dubinski, Richard Sullivan, Joanne Barkin, Roland Letendre, Joan Holt, Atty. Justin Perrotta 
 
Chair Perkel called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm.   
 
Continuation-2018-013/ZBA – Kenneth Shapiro, for property located at 405 Shore Road (Atlas Sheet 
10, Parcel 5, title reference:  Book, 25631, Page 201).  Applicant seeks a Special Permit w/ref to 
Section 30.7 of the Truro Zoning Bylaw for the alteration of a pre-existing, non-conforming garage by 
replacing the existing structure with a new dwelling and garage structure. 
 
Interim Planner Bardi stated that a continuance was requested for December 17, 2018 via an email. 
 
Member Hultin made a motion to continue the Public Hearing for 2018-013/ZBA to December 17, 
2018. 
Chair Perkel seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
Continuation-2018-003/ZBA – Susan Lewis Solomont, by Atty Sarah Turano-Flores, for property 
located at 37 Stephens Way (Atlas Sheet 58, Parcel 1, title reference:  Book 10986, Page 185).  
Applicant is seeking to overturn the Building Commissioner’s decision to not issue a permit and is also 
requesting a Special Permit and/or Variance, whichever the Board deems appropriate, w/ref. to Sec. 
10.2 and 50.1A of the Truro Zoning Bylaw to construct a single-family dwelling. 
 
Member Hultin noted he was recusing himself from this hearing and would sit in the audience. 
 
Atty. Sarah Turano-Flores came before the Board.  She is representing her client, Susan Lewis Solomont.  
With her is David Michniewicz, from Coastal Engineering, who designed the site plan, and also Mr. Chet 
Lay, who came out of retirement to submit an affidavit outlining the process that was followed in 1993 
and 1994, relative to the creation of the approval of the subdivision plan back then.  The affidavit was 
submitted after the last time they were before the ZBA, which was August 26th.   Atty. Turano-Flores 
believes the affidavit puts into context the nature of those proceedings.  She continued to list some 
additional information which had been submitted upon request of the Board.  She would like to give a 
brief overview of the three forms of relief.  Chair Perkel stated that the hard issue before the Board is 
the variance and he’d like her to address that first. 
Atty. Turano-Flores said that if the Board does not feel it’s buildable of-right, and if they don’t believe 
it’s eligible for a Special Permit, then she believes it’s eligible for a variance.  The variance standard is in 
the State Statute 40A, Section 10, and is three-pronged. 



 

Page 2 of 5 
 

1. The need for the variance is owing to circumstances related to soil conditions, shape, or 
topography that especially affect this lot and not the neighborhood as a whole.  With respect to 
this prong, they feel that both the soil conditions and the topography are at issue here.  That is 
illustrated in the affidavit provided by Mr. Lay.  The topography leading down into the wetland is 
very steep and is depicted on the affidavit as well. 

2. If the variance is not given, Ms. Solomont would suffer substantial hardship.  An itemized list has 
been provided in their narrative. 

3. Whether desirable relief can be granted without substantially derogating from the purpose and 
intent of the Zoning Bylaw.  Atty. Turano-Flores believes it’s best to go back to the Special 
Permit criteria which also speaks to whether it will be substantially more detrimental to the 
neighborhood.   

Chair Perkel asked what Variances they are looking for.  Atty. Turano-Flores stated that first the ZBA 
would vote that they agree with the Building Commissioner that there is no frontage.  As a result of that 
vote they would need a variance from the frontage requirement. 
Member Areson is troubled by the appearance of the road.  When you drive up it, it does not appear to 
be suitable for building.  Atty. Turano-Flores said that the owner has an easement in the full extent of 
the subdivision plan that created this lot.  They could, in theory, go out tomorrow (assuming the 
Conservation Commission gave approvals where needed) and construct to the full 40-foot width.  
Member Areson understands, but it would still be near the wetlands, and they would need Conservation 
Commission approval.  Atty. Turano-Flores agreed, if they are within 100 feet, however it was moved to 
over 100 feet from that wetland and the constructed portion in that location and does not need 
Conservation approval.  The plan profile was revised to be located outside the 100-foot buffer zone to 
the inland wetland.  Chair Perkel asked, assuming they get the variance for moment, where would the 
house be placed?  Atty. Turano-Flores produced a plan and designated the location to the Board. 
Chair Perkel addressed the audience and asked if anyone would like to speak to the project, in 
opposition. 
Atty. Justin Perrotta approached the Board.  He represents the abutting property owners at 21 Cooper 
Rd.  He had attended the last meeting addressing this project.  On the variance request, he thinks the 
problem is; if they approve a variance here, they will have everyone coming in to get a variance because 
their property is near a wetland, or they’re on a road with a little rise in it.  He does not feel this 
property is unique enough to grant a variance.  He added that thinking a lot is buildable when it isn’t, is 
not a sufficient hardship to grant a variance.  Atty. Perrotta included that counsel left off one of the key 
elements of the bylaw which is to ensure roads with adequate access of 40-feet in width.  Granting a 
variance on a much smaller road doesn’t satisfy the spirit of the bylaw.  For the reasons mentioned, they 
do not feel a variance should be granted. 
Joanne Barkin came up to speak.  She lives on Stephens Way. She referred to the Klein case in 2008 
where Susan Solomont was one of the plaintiffs and she thinks the record will show that Ms. Solomont 
signed various documents indicating that she believed Stephens Way was unsafe.  She would like to ask 
whoever is in a position to speak for her, perhaps her lawyer, to speak to this.  She feels there is an 
important contradiction there, and she would like that clarified. 
Chair Perkel then asked if there was anyone in the audience to speak in favor of the project.  No one 
came forth. 
Chair Perkel closed the evidentiary portion of the public hearing to audience comments and announced 
that the Board would go into the deliberative portion of the hearing. 
Member Areson stated that they had competing opinions from different Building Inspectors, and Town 
Counsel.  Chair Perkel has a problem with the recounting of people’s thoughts, and what they said, from 
20 years ago.  Member Areson believes there is some hardship shown, as Ms. Solomont has paid taxes 
on this property, as a buildable lot, since the she purchased it. 



 

Page 3 of 5 
 

Member Todd feels the same way.  He’s looking at the property as a buildable lot. 
Member Dundas agrees that it is a buildable lot based upon the evidence presented before the Board.  
He thinks that if they’re going to list the criteria, then absolutely it’s a hardship.  The applicant pays 
taxes on this lot. 
Member Thornley has always felt this was a buildable lot, by-right. 
Chair Perkel stated it appears that the Board is of the same opinion on the hardship side.  He wished to 
discuss the effect of the variance by topography which is unique to the site. 
Member Todd thinks it’s a toss-up.  He thinks there are a lot of sites in the area where wetlands and 
topography are involved.  He does not find it compelling.  Member Areson agrees with what Member 
Todd stated. 
Member Dundas confirmed that the structure would take up 3 percent of the 3-acre lot.  He believes the 
owner is taking great care and consideration to the effect it would have.   
Member Thornley reiterated that he believes the lot is buildable by-right. 
After a five-minute break, deliberation continued. 
Chair Perkel stated in order to say it’s a buildable lot by-right, they needed to find 150 feet of frontage, 
and it doesn’t exist.  If they find 150 feet of frontage, then they can overturn the decision of the Building 
Commissioner.  Without finding that frontage, they would need to discuss whether the property is 
entitled to a Special Permit. 
Chair Perkel believes there are three items the Board needs to determine in order them to grant a 
frontage variance. 

1. The unique issues presented by the topography. 
2. Hardship. 
3. Purpose and intent of the bylaw, which is derogation of the neighborhood. 

When it comes to the hardship, Chair Perkel thinks there is substantial opinion.  At least 4 members 
(probably 5) would impose a hardship.  He then asked if the topography is such that it’s unique to this 
property.  He does feel there are a lot of topographical issues.  There was substantial agreement among 
the Board members that there were unique topographical issues. 
A 15-minute break was taken to allow Counsel to draft a motion. 
 
Chair Perkel made a motion to recess for fifteen minutes. 
No second. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
Chair Perkel called the Board back in session at 6:32pm.  He went over the drafted motion and made 
some amendments.  Chair Perkel would like to propose the following; see if the Board has any more 
discussion on the variance issue and then he’d like to ask for a vote, incorporating the Principals and text 
(where relevant) in the document they are currently reviewing.  He also feels they should draft an 
opinion which will come back to them at their next meeting for signing.  That would moot the two 
applications before them (the building permit and the special permit), and they should deny both. 
Member Todd asked if they would need an extension.  Interim Planner Bardi stated she would ask the 
applicant’s counsel for an extension. 
 
Member Todd made a motion in the matter of 2018-003/ZBA-Susan Lewis Solomont, for property 
located at 37 Stephens Way, to grant the applicant’s request for a Variance from frontage 
requirements set forth in Section 50.1 of the Truro Zoning Bylaw requiring 150 feet of frontage on a 
street, as defined in Section 10.4 of said bylaw based on the plans submitted with the application and 
the following findings; 



 

Page 4 of 5 
 

1. There are circumstances relating to soil conditions and topography that especially affects such 
land, but not effecting generally the zoning district in which it is located including, but not 
limited to, steep slope and a wetland on the property which both effected the ability of the 
property owner to fully construct the road to the extent shown on the 1994 Definitive 
Subdivision Plan which created the lot. 

2. Literal enforcement of the provisions of the Bylaw in this case would result in a substantial 
hardship, financial or otherwise, by Ms. Solomont including, but not limited to the fact that 
she first purchased the property in 1997 and has been paying taxes on it as a buildable lot ever 
since, and would be left with an unbuildable lot if the Variance is not granted.  Note that two 
prior Building Commissioners opined that the lot was buildable. 

3. Desirable relief may be granted without substantial detriment to the public good, and without 
nullifying or substantially derogating from the intent or purpose of the Bylaw, including but 
not limited to, the fact that a single-family home is a use allowed by-right in the underlining 
zoning district.  The proposed construction shall be three (3) percent of the lot area, and the 
proposed house is situated on the lot outside the 100-foot buffer zones to the adjacent 
wetlands. 

Member Thornley seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
Chair Perkel announced that the other two applications before the Board were essentially mooted. 
 
Chair Perkel made a motion to deny the application and to reverse the Building Commissioner’s 
decision. 
Member Dundas seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
Member Dundas made a motion in the matter of 2018-003/ZBA-Susan Lewis Solomont, for the 
property located at 37 Stephens Way to deny the applicant’s request for a Special Permit pursuant to 
G.L. Chapter 40A Section C, Paragraph 1 in the Truro Zoning Bylaws Section 30.7A because the lot is 
not lawfully pre-existing, non-conforming, and the lot will not be used in the same manner for the 
purpose previously used and/or the single-family dwelling will be substantially more detrimental to 
the neighborhood than the existing non-conforming lot and/or the proposed single-family dwelling 
will not exist under the general purpose and intent of the bylaw. 
Chair Perkel seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
Continuation – 2018-002/ZBA – Timsneck LLC, by Atty. Benjamin Zehnder, for property located at 10 
Thornley Meadow Road (Atlas Sheet 53, Parcel 87, title reference:  Book 30529, Page 134).  Applicants 
are seeking a Special Permit and/or Variance, whichever the Board deems appropriate, w/ref to 
Sections 10.4 and 30.7B of the Truro Zoning Bylaw for additions to a pre-existing, non-conforming 
single-family dwelling. 
 
 
2018-012/ZBA - Timsneck LLC, by Atty. Benjamin Zehnder, for property located at 10 Thornley 
Meadow Road (Atlas Sheet 53, Parcel 87, title reference:  Book 30529, Page 134).  Applicant seeks a 
Variance w/ref to Sections 10.4 and 50.1A of the Truro Zoning Bylaw for 14.27 feet of lot frontage on 
Button Hill Road or in the alternative, 45.82 feet of lot frontage on Thornley Meadow Road. 
 



 

Page 5 of 5 
 

Chair Perkel stated that he was in receipt of a letter from Counsel asking to withdraw both proceedings 
without prejudice. 
 
Member Hultin made a motion to allow without prejudice both 2018-002/ZBA-Timsneck LLC, and 
2018-012/ZBA-Timsneck LLC. 
Member Thornley seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
Member Thornley made a motion to adjourn at 6:50pm. 
Chair Perkel seconded. 
So voted; 5-0-0, motion carries. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Noelle L. Scoullar 



 

Truro Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes of 5/18/2020 Page 1 of 3 

TOWN OF TRURO 

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

Meeting Minutes 

May 18, 2020 – 5:30 pm 

REMOTE MEETING 

 

 

Present (Quorum):  Arthur Hultin (Chair); Fred Todd (Vice Chair); Chris Lucy (Clerk); John 

Dundas; John Thornley; Darrell Shedd (Alternate); Heidi Townsend (Alternate) 
 

Absent:  None 
 

Other Participants:  Jeffrey Ribeiro, AICP – Truro Town Planner 

 

Meeting convened at 5:30 pm by Chair Hultin. 

 

Town Planner, Jeffrey Ribeiro, detailed where to watch this meeting, how to access it, and to 

provide comment during the meeting by calling toll free (877) 309-2073 and entering the access 

code 802-400-861.  The telephone number and access code were repeated, and he noted that a 

slight delay of 15 to 30 seconds between the meeting and the live stream television broadcast might 

be experienced.  He also noted that if you are calling in to please lower the volume on your 

computer or television during public comments so you may be heard clearly and to also identify 

yourself so multiple callers can be managed effectively.  Citizens may provide public comment 

for this meeting by emailing jribeiro@truro-ma.gov with your comments, and he will be 

checking the emails live during the meeting. 
 

 

Public Hearing – Continued 

2020-001/ZBA – Charles Silva for property located at 379 Shore Road (Atlas Map 10, Parcel 

10, Registry of Deeds title reference:  Book 24602, Page 48).  Applicant seeks a Special Permit 

under Section 30.7.A of the Truro Zoning Bylaw for the demolition and reconstruction of a 

pre-existing, non-conforming cottage. 

 

Chair Hultin stated that this is a procedural only motion that will be made to continue to June 22, 

2020.  Town Planner, Jeffrey Ribeiro, stated that at this time they are just making a motion to 

continue to the regularly scheduled meeting of June 22.  Chair Hultin moved to continue this 

hearing to the meeting on June 22, 2020 at 5:30 pm, either at Truro Town Hall or online.  Member 

Thornley seconded the motion.  Chair Hultin asked if there were any further discussion by any 

Board Members; there were none.  Chair Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor.  So 

voted:  7-0.  Motion passes unanimously to continue to the 22nd. 
 

 

Board Action/Review 

Chair Hultin asked Town Planner Ribeiro to explain the provisions for the first Agenda item 

regarding conducting meetings, hearings, and site visits.  Town Planner Ribeiro stated the 

Governor came out today providing more information.  Currently the recommendation from staff 

and counsel for the Town is still to hold off on conducting virtual hearings for now.  Reasons being 

mailto:jribeiro@truro-ma.gov


 

Truro Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes of 5/18/2020 Page 2 of 3 

that it is not ideal for the general public to participate because of tech issues, connectivity issues 

in Truro, lack of broadband/internet.  Another issue is site visits and ways to do that – small groups, 

socially distanced, masks, video, individual drive-bys.  Chair Hultin suggested waiting for 

guidance from higher authorities regarding future meetings and public hearings. 

 

Town Planner Ribeiro addressed the next Agenda item:  Vote to authorize the Chair to schedule 

or reschedule public hearings.  He stated that the Municipalities Bill that the Legislature passed 

allows for the Board to authorize the Chair to schedule and reschedule public hearings as needed.  

Chair Hultin asked Town Planner Ribeiro if this preempts any public notice, is this a complete 

exemption to that notice, or is there some limitation to that?  Town Planner Ribeiro replied that it 

does require posting on the Town’s website ahead of time.  His recommendation is to stay with 

their normal practice, but if needed, Chair Hultin could move a hearing to a later date.  Chair Hultin 

stated that this is for extraordinary circumstances.  Chair Hultin asked for a motion.  Member 

Dundas moved to authorize the Chair to schedule or reschedule public hearings in accordance with 

Chapter 53 of the Acts of 2020, An Act to Address Challenges Faced by Municipalities and State 

Authorities Resulting from COVID-19.  Seconded by Member Thornley.  Chair Hultin asked if 

there were any further discussion by any Board Members; there were none.  Chair Hultin asked 

for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Chair Hultin abstained.  So voted:  6-0, one abstained. 

 

Town Planner Ribeiro addressed the next Agenda item:  Cloverleaf project.  He stated that they 

were not going to be able to move forward on the 28th as the applicant’s engineer is also working 

in a limited capacity, and they have not yet received the revised plans.  Once received, the plans 

will need to go to Horsley Witten for the peer review again.  They are working on the timeline.  

The meeting on May 28 will be a continuance. 
 

 

Approval of Minutes 

Chair Hultin reiterated the July 29, 2019 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin moved 

to accept the minutes as written.  Clerk Lucy seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair Hultin asked 

for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Member Dundas abstained.  So voted:  6-0, one abstained.  

Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin stated the August 26, 2019 minutes were from executive session.  Hearing no changes 

offered, Chair Hultin moved to approve the minutes as written.  Member Thornley seconded.  No 

further discussion.  Chair Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Member Lucy 

abstained.  So voted:  6-0, one abstained.  Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the December 5, 2019 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to accept the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair 

Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Member Lucy abstained.  So voted:  6-0, one 

abstained.  Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the December 12, 2019 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to approve the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  

Chair Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor.  So voted:  7-0.  Motion is approved, 

and the minutes are accepted. 



 

Truro Zoning Board of Appeals Minutes of 5/18/2020 Page 3 of 3 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the December 19, 2019 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to accept the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair 

Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Member Thornley abstained.  So voted:  6-0, 

one abstained.  Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the January 16, 2020 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to accept the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair 

Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Member Thornley abstained.  So voted:  6-0, 

one abstained.  Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the January 27, 2020 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to accept the minutes as written.  Member Shedd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair 

Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Vice Chair Todd, Clerk Lucy and Members 

Dundas and Shedd abstained.  So voted:  3-0, four abstained.  Motion is approved, and the minutes 

are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the February 24, 2020 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to accept the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair 

Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Member Dundas abstained.  So voted:  6-0, 

one abstained.  Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the March 12, 2020 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to accept the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair 

Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Member Dundas abstained.  So voted:  7-0.  

Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the March 23, 2020 minutes and affirmed with Town Planner Ribeiro that 

they adhered to the special procedures at this meeting.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin 

moved to accept the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair 

Hultin asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Clerk Lucy abstained.  So voted:  6-0, one 

abstained.  Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin reiterated the April 2, 2020 minutes.  Hearing no changes offered, Chair Hultin moved 

to accept the minutes as written.  Vice Chair Todd seconded.  No further discussion.  Chair Hultin 

asked for a roll call vote.  Voted all in favor; Clerk Lucy abstained.  So voted:  6-0, one abstained.  

Motion is approved, and the minutes are accepted. 

 

Chair Hultin asked the Board Members if there was any other business that needed to be taken 

care of right now; there being none, Chair Hultin moved for a motion to adjourn.  Clerk Lucy 

seconded the motion.  No further discussion.  Chair Hultin asked for a vote.  Voted all in favor.  

So voted:  7-0.  Meeting adjourned. 

 

Respectfully submitted, 

 

Elizabeth Sturdy 


	Packet for 6-22-2020.pdf
	Application 379 Shore Road color.pdf
	Plans for 379 Shore Road.pdf
	C17012_C1.2.1_Existing Site Conditions_2019-12-17_STAMPED.PDF
	G1.0 ST.pdf
	G1.1 ST.pdf
	G1.2 ST.pdf
	scan 735.pdf
	Sheet 2 of 4 ST.pdf
	Sheet 3 fo 4 ST.pdf
	Sheet 4 of 4 ST.pdf


	18-11-05-ZBA-MIN for approval at 6-22-2020 mtg.pdf
	18-11-26-ZBA-MIN for approval at 6-22-2020 mtg.pdf
	5-18-2020 ZBA Min for approval at 6-22-2020 mtg.pdf



